A journal of the Society for Conservation Biology

### LETTER

# Did Ranchers and Slaughterhouses Respond to Zero-Deforestation Agreements in the Brazilian Amazon?

Holly K. Gibbs<sup>1,2</sup>, Jacob Munger<sup>1</sup>, Jessica L'Roe<sup>2</sup>, Paulo Barreto<sup>3</sup>, Ritaumaria Pereira<sup>1</sup>, Matthew Christie<sup>1</sup>, Ticiana Amaral<sup>1</sup>, & Nathalie F. Walker<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Sustainability and the Global Environment (SAGE), Nelson Institute for Environmental Studies, University of Wisconsin, 1710 University Avenue, Madison, WI 53726, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Geography, University of Wisconsin, 550 N. Park Street, Madison, WI 53706, USA

<sup>3</sup> IMAZON Amazon Institute of People and the Environment, Rua Domingos Marreiros, 2020 – Fátima - CEP: 66.060-162, Belém, Pará, Brazil

<sup>4</sup> National Wildlife Federation, National Advocacy Center, 1990 K Street NW, Suite 430, Washington, DC 20006, USA

#### Keywords

Agribusiness; Amazon; Brazil; deforestation; land use change; moratoria; zero-deforestation agreements; supply chain governance; beef cattle.

#### Correspondence

Holly K. Gibbs, 1710 University Avenue, 1710 University Avenue, Madison, WI 53726, USA. E-mail: hkgibbs@wisc.edu

#### Received

15 October 2014 Accepted 16 March 2015

Editor Reed Noss

doi: 10.1111/conl.12175

#### Abstract

New supply chain interventions offer promise to reduce deforestation from expansion of commercial agriculture, as more multinational companies agree to stop sourcing from farms with recent forest clearing. We analyzed the zerodeforestation cattle agreements signed by major meatpacking companies in the Brazilian Amazon state of Pará using property-level data on beef supply chains. Our panel analysis of daily purchases by slaughterhouses before and after the agreements demonstrates that they now avoid purchasing from properties with deforestation, which was not the case prior to the agreements. Supplying ranchers registered their properties in a public environmental registry nearly 2 years before surrounding non-supplying properties, and 85% of surveyed ranchers indicated that the agreements were the driving force. In addition, supplying properties had significantly reduced deforestation rates following the agreements. Our results demonstrate important changes in the beef supply chain, but the agreements' narrow scope and implementation diminish outcomes for forest conservation.

#### Introduction

Over the last two decades, the drivers of tropical deforestation have shifted from subsistence agriculture and government resettlement schemes to export-driven commodity agriculture and timber production (Rudel *et al.* 2009; Defries *et al.* 2010). This shift toward more enterprise-driven land use change has accelerated rates of deforestation as vast areas of tropical forests have been converted to croplands and cattle pasture (Achard *et al.* 2002; Gibbs *et al.* 2010; Hansen *et al.* 2013). However, new opportunities for conservation have also emerged, particularly in the beef, soy, and palm oil industries where the commodity traders who process and sell raw agricultural goods and the retailers who buy from them are now more responsive to demands for deforestationfree production (Nepstad *et al.* 2006, 2010, 2014; Butler & Laurance 2008; Dauvergne & Lister 2012; Brannstrom *et al.* 2012; UN 2014; Gibbs *et al.* 2015).

During the last decade, high-profile campaigns by non-governmental organizations (NGOs) have linked deforestation to multinational corporations who buy agricultural goods from forest-rich regions (Greenpeace International 2006, 2009a, 2015). In response, some retailers and commodity traders have imposed environmental criteria on their suppliers. Examples of such supply chain interventions include zero-deforestation agreements and standards issued by international multistakeholder commodity roundtables. Interest in supply chain governance is growing rapidly as more countries and companies make high-profile commitments to avoid deforestation (Smith 2008; Walker *et al.* 2013; UN 2014). However, few studies have evaluated the effects of these interventions on the ground, which limits evaluation of

32 Conservation Letters, January/February 2016, 9(1), 32–42 Copyright and Photocopying: © 2015 The Authors. Conservation Letters published by Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

their successes and shortcomings, and opens the door to greenwashing (Rudorff *et al.* 2011; Newton *et al.* 2013; Gibbs *et al.* 2015).

Supply chain governance is particularly relevant in Brazil—a leading global producer and exporter of beef and soy, and home to the world's largest tracts of remaining tropical forest. In response to a combination of government policies, supply chain interventions, and changes in market conditions, Amazon deforestation rates dropped by more than 80% between 2004 and 2014 (Figure S1; Arima *et al.* 2014; Nepstad *et al.* 2014; INPE 2014; Gibbs *et al.* 2015). Even with this decline, Brazil maintains one of the highest absolute rates of deforestation in the world. In 2014, nearly 5000 km<sup>2</sup> were cleared in Brazilian Amazon (INPE 2014). Expansion of cattle pastures continues to be a major cause of deforestation, and pasturelands now occupy at least 60% of cleared land in the Brazilian Amazon (TerraClass 2012).

In 2009, both the Federal Public Prosecutor's Office in Pará state (Ministério Público Federal MPF-Pará) and NGOs pressured the beef and leather retailers and meatpacking companies, which own and operate slaughterhouses, to reduce deforestation associated with cattle production. The MPF-Pará sued ranchers who cleared forest illegally and the slaughterhouses that bought from them, and used threats of litigation to convince Brazilian retailers to boycott slaughterhouses connected to illegal deforestation (Barreto & Silva 2010; Sist et al. 2013). In response, individual meatpacking companies in Pará began signing the legally binding Terms of Adjustment of Conduct ("MPF-TAC") agreements in July 2009 to stop purchasing from properties with illegal deforestation (Ministério Público Federal 2009, 2013a, 2013b). These agreements have since been replicated in other Amazonian States-Acre, Rondônia, Amazonas and Mato Grosso-and now include two-thirds of the federally inspected slaughterhouses (SIFs) in the Legal Amazon (Figure 1). In October 2009, Brazil's largest meatpacking companies, Marfrig, Minerva, JBS, and Bertin (the latter was subsequently purchased by JBS), also signed the "G4" zero-deforestation agreement with Greenpeace in response to high-profile campaigning that leveraged pressure from retailers and brands concerned about the reputational risks of being associated with deforestation (Greenpeace International 2009b).

The G4 and MPF-TAC agreements share the same timeframe and basic tenets: meatpacking companies committed to block sales from properties with deforestation occurring after the agreements or that were not registered in the Rural Environmental Registry (Portuguese acronym CAR), which stores georeferenced property boundaries for monitoring purposes. The MPF-TAC agreements emphasize avoiding illegal deforestation

as defined by the Brazilian Forest Code, which stipulates that 80% of a property's forest area must be reserved as a set-aside across much of the Brazilian Amazon biome (Ministério Público Federal 2013a, 2013b). The G4 agreement goes farther and prohibits any clearing, even if within the legal limit. Both agreements currently govern only those properties selling directly to slaughterhouses ("supplying properties"), thereby excluding all other indirect supplying properties that cattle are commonly moved between such as calving and breeding ranches (Walker et al. 2013). These indirect suppliers are mentioned in both agreements, but implementation efforts have been minimal. Under the G4 agreement, JBS, Marfrig, and Minerva committed to set up monitoring systems to manage deforestation risk in their individual supply chains. They use PRODES deforestation maps produced by the Brazilian Institute for Space Research (INPE) to identify deforestation on their direct supplying properties, which sell half of the cattle slaughtered in the Brazilian Amazon (MAPA 2013). Other companies do not yet have deforestation monitoring systems.

Here, we present the first empirical study of cattle supply chains aiming to quantify meatpacker and rancher response to the zero-deforestation agreements. We considered the four large JBS slaughterhouses in southeastern Pará, which signed both agreements in 2009. These plants account for 30% of slaughter in Pará, and were the only slaughterhouses in the state operating before and after the agreements with deforestation monitoring systems (Figure S2). First, we assessed their response to the requirement that suppliers must be in the CAR registry. Next, we examined whether JBS changed purchasing behavior after the agreements to avoid properties with recent deforestation. Finally, we examined differences between the properties that JBS purchased from before and after the agreements to characterize potential changes in deforestation rates and trends.

### Methods

#### Study area

Pará state has the largest cattle herd within the Brazilian Amazon biome, with 19.2 million head as of 2013, when the state accounted for 20% of beef exports and all live cattle exports from the biome (IBGE 2014; Secex & MDIC 2014). Our study focused on the southeast portion where 70% of Pará's large SIFs are located (Figure S2). This region is dominated by cattle production with <2% of the agricultural area planted to soy in 2014 (Gibbs *et al.* 2015). Pará accounted for 40% of Amazonian deforestation over the last decade, much of which occurred in the



**Figure 1** Major slaughterhouses in the Brazilian Legal Amazon that have and have not signed a zero-deforestation cattle agreement (includes both MPF-TAC and G4). Slaughterhouse locations identified using GPS locations collected in the field and high-resolution imagery via Google Earth. Only federally inspected slaughterhouses (SIFs) are depicted. Smaller slaughterhouses are excluded. The Legal Amazon is defined by law to include the states of Acre, Amapa, Amazonas, Para, Rondonia, Roraima, Mato Grosso, Maranhao, and Tocantins, which each contain a portion of the Brazilian Amazon biome.

southeast where almost half of the primary forest was cleared by 2014.

#### Property-level supply chain mapping

To assess meatpacker and rancher response to the agreements, we first developed a supply chain mapping approach that combines maps of property boundaries with data on cattle purchases. We downloaded daily cattle purchase information for the JBS slaughterhouses, October 2008–December 2013 (JBS 2013). The data included date of purchase, property name, owner name and identification number, and municipality for 54,993 transactions involving ~3,600 properties that sold cattle directly to the slaughterhouses. The type of information available has varied through time. We wrote computer scripts to standardize all input datasets. A matching algorithm was used to link the cattle purchase data to the owner identification number and farm name included in the CAR registry, allowing for slight variants of the same name (SIMLAM 2013). Through this process, we identified the location and boundaries of the supplying properties for 43,526 (79%) of the transactions during the study period. The remaining 21% were either with unregistered properties or with properties that had unresolvable discrepancies in identifying information.

We defined our study area to include all CAR properties within 10 km of a supplying property, which helped to ensure similar infrastructure access and geographic conditions (Figure S3). These non-supplying properties may sell directly to other nearby plants (Figure S2) or sell to other properties, which may sell to JBS slaughterhouses. Similar purchase data is not available from any other slaughterhouses. The final spatial dataset was comprised of 39,794 CAR-registered properties, including the 2,723 supplying properties and the 37,071 non-supplying properties located in the study area. We also applied structured surveys to seven slaughterhouses, 131 ranchers, six syndicates, and 70 key informants in the study region during 2013 and 2014 to better understand the drivers of behavior changes and regional context (SOM 1.3).

#### **CAR** property registration

To assess the impacts of the agreements on CAR registration rates, we tracked changes in the portion of slaughterhouse purchases with registered properties (SOM 1.1). We ran *t*-tests with unequal variance and Wilcoxon rank-sum tests to determine if there were significant differences in the mean and median registration dates for post-agreement supplying properties compared with those that supplied only before the agreement, and to surrounding non-supplying properties.

#### Slaughterhouse purchasing behavior

We quantified the impact of recent deforestation on slaughterhouse purchase probability before and after the zero-deforestation commitments. We used panel data on annual deforestation for supplying and surrounding non-supplying properties (2009–2013) and fit a linear probability model that included property- and year-level fixed effects to consider changes in purchasing behavior (SOM 1.2). These fixed effects controlled for time-invariant characteristics of each parcel such as size, location, and initial forest cover, and for average effects that vary year to year, such as market conditions.

Deforestation and forest cover were estimated using the annual Landsat-based PRODES deforestation maps (INPE 2014). "Recent deforestation" was defined as deforestation  $\geq 6.25$  ha, the minimum mapping unit for PRODES, detected in either of the two years prior to purchase. Because of the schedule of PRODES data releases, slaughterhouses have access only to the previous years' deforestation data when making purchasing decisions (not the current year) and we have replicated these conditions in our model (Table S1). This means that a robust response to the agreements is not expected until 2012, when all of the recent deforestation was detectable and occurred after the agreements.

#### **Supplying property characteristics**

We assessed changes in the property size, forest cover, location, and deforestation rates of properties selling to the JBS slaughterhouses by comparing three groups: (1) those selling after the agreements in 2013 but not before the agreements ("post-agreement"); (2) those selling only before the agreements in 2009 ("pre-agreement"); (3) and those selling in both 2009 and 2013 ("stable"). To evaluate changes in supplying properties after the agreements, we used difference-in-differences tests to compare mean deforestation rates normalized by forest area during the three years before (2006–2008) and after the agreements (2010–2012) on pre-agreement and post-agreement supplying properties. Properties missing owner identification information or not registered in the CAR were excluded.

#### Results

#### CAR property registration increased rapidly

In 2006, new state regulations mandated CAR registration for agricultural properties in Pará (Azevedo *et al.* 2014). Despite the legal requirement, only 2% of purchases were with registered properties when the G4 agreement was signed in October 2009 (Figure 2a). By early 2010 implementation deadline for both agreements, nearly 60% of the slaughterhouses' monthly transactions were with registered suppliers. By the end of 2013, 96% of transactions were with registered properties (Figure 2a).

Properties that supplied after the agreement were registered significantly earlier than both surrounding non-supplying properties and pre-agreement supplying properties (Figure 2b). Of the post-agreement supplying properties, 52% registered within a year of the G4 agreement. Only 16% of non-supplying, surrounding properties registered during this period. Instead, 44% of these non-supplying properties registered more than three years later following increased state government pressure and support, particularly for smallholders. Wilcoxon rank-sum and t-test results confirm that post-agreement suppliers registered significantly earlier. The median registration date for these suppliers was 756 days earlier than non-supplying properties and 374 days earlier than pre-agreement supplying properties (P < 0.001; Table S2). Of the 56 JBS suppliers we interviewed in southeastern Pará, 85% specified that they registered their properties in order to sell to JBS.



Figure 2 Timing of property registration with the CAR system. (a) The portion of monthly JBS slaughterhouse transactions with registered supplying properties increased dramatically following the zero-deforestation agreements. (b) The JBS slaughterhouses incentivized rapid registration of supplying properties immediately following the agreements (red line). Registration of other properties within 10 km but not selling to a JBS slaughterhouse spiked much later (blue line).

By contrast, only 35% of the 69 non-suppliers indicated that the agreements motivated registration.

#### Slaughterhouses reduced purchases from recently deforested properties

In 2009, 36% of supplying properties had recent deforestation but this fell to 4% by 2013. Results from the panel analyses demonstrate that the probability that JBS slaughterhouses would purchase from a property was not affected by recent deforestation before the agreement, but that they avoided properties with deforestation after the agreement (Table 1; Table S3; Figure 3). The effect of recent deforestation on purchase probability was almost zero before the agreements among the group of properties that had ever sold to JBS and had remaining forest. By 2013, the purchase probability was cut in half

Table 1	Average effect of recent deforestation or	n the JBS slaughterhouse	purchase probability <sup>a,b</sup>

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
	Supplying and non- supplying properties located within 10 km	Supplying and non- supplying properties located within 5 km with ≥6.25 ha forest in 2009; excluding INCRA resettlements	Supplying properties	Supplying properties with ≥6.25 ha of forest in 2009
Deforestation effect on 2009 purchases	-10.56	-6.36	1.03	-0.02
Deforestation effect on 2010 purchases	14.33*	11.65	6.64	5.97
Deforestation effect on 2011 purchases	20.59**	9.18	16.59**	10.94*
Deforestation effect on 2012 purchases	-46.05***	-35.03***	-45.18***	-39.96***
Deforestation effect on 2013 purchases	-62.85***	-47.65***	-59.91***	-52.34***
Number of parcels	39,794	14,374	2,723	1,810

<sup>a</sup>Deforestation effect is defined as the percent change in predicted purchase probability if deforestation is detected during the previous two years. <sup>b</sup>We conducted model runs using a variety of time windows and deforestation thresholds; results are all qualitatively similar and available upon request.

\**P* < 0.05.

\*\*P < 0.01.

\*\*\*P < 0.001.



**Figure 3** Effect of recent deforestation on slaughterhouse purchase probability. Panel analysis results demonstrate that the JBS slaughterhouses were significantly less likely to purchase from properties with recent deforestation by 2012 (P < 0.001). Prior to the agreements, deforestation did not have a statistically significant impact on their purchasing selection. At least some of the deforestation assessed by our models for 2010 and 2011 occurred prior to the agreements; 2012 is the first year we would expect a full response (Table S1). Graphic based on Model 4 sample (Table 1; Table S3).

when recent deforestation was detected on a property (Figure S2; P < 0.01). We produced similar results using a range of sample definitions (Table 1; Table S3). Our results provide strong evidence that these slaughterhouses disproportionately favored properties without deforestation in response to the agreements, an effect that goes beyond the overall decline in deforestation rates across the region.

# Post-agreement supplying properties had lower deforestation rates

Pre-and post-agreement supplying properties have significantly different characteristics and deforestation trends (Table 2). The mean size of pre-agreement supplying properties ( $\sim$ 1,300 ha) was significantly smaller than the post-agreement supplying properties ( $\sim$ 1,800 ha), and

 Table 2
 Comparison of average characteristics for CAR-registered properties that supplied only before the agreement, only after the agreement, or in both 2009 and 2013<sup>a</sup>

	Pre-agreement supplying properties <sup>b</sup>	Post-agreement Supplying properties <sup>c</sup>	Difference between pre- and post- agreement supplying properties	Stable supplying properties that sold pre- and post- agreement <sup>d</sup>
Number of properties (n)	499	577	-78	178
Mean distance to nearest	100.4	74.7	25.8***	67
study slaughterhouse (km) <sup>e</sup>	(3.7)	(2.1)	(4.3)	(3)
Mean property size (ha)	1270	1839	-569**	3158
	(135)	(166)	(214)	(435)
Mean forest area at end of	378	527	-149	978
2009 (ha)	(53)	(79)	(95)	(214)
Mean proportion of property	0.208	0.152	0.056***	0.193
forested	(0.011)	(0.008)	(0.013)	(0.014)
Number of properties with $\geq$ 6.25 ha forest in 2009 ( <i>n</i> for next three rows)	409	433	-24	156
Mean proportion deforested	0.157	0.193	-0.036*	0.153
from 2006 to 2008 (pre-agreement)	(0.012)	(0.014)	(0.018)	(0.020)
Mean proportion deforested	0.045	0.024	0.020*	0.011
from 2010 to 2012 (post-agreement)	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.009)	(0.006)
Difference-in-difference			-0.056**	
for deforestation rate before and after agreement agreement			(0.021)	

<sup>a</sup>Statistical tests for non-zero differences in means are based on Student-*t* tests, unpaired and with unequal variance; standard errors are in parentheses. <sup>b</sup>Supplying properties that sold in 2009, prior to the agreements, but did not supply after the agreements and for which we had owner identifying information.

<sup>c</sup>Supplying properties that sold in 2013, after the agreements were implemented, but did not supply before the agreements, and for which we had owner identifying information.

<sup>d</sup>Only properties supplying in both 2009 and 2013 were included.

<sup>e</sup>Distances represent straight-line distances, not road-based distances.

less than half the size of stable suppliers (~3,200 ha). Post-agreement supplying properties also had a significantly lower proportion of remaining forest (P < 0.001), with an average of 15% of forest remaining compared with the ~21% found on pre-agreement suppliers. Roughly a third of post-agreement properties had <1% forest remaining, and only 31 properties contained ≥80% forest cover. These more recent supplying properties were also located 26 km closer to the nearest slaughterhouse (P < 0.001).

All groups had lower deforestation rates after the agreements (2010–2012) than beforehand (2006–2008). However, post-agreement supplying properties had more significant rate reductions than pre-agreement suppliers (P < 0.01), in part because they had higher deforestation

rates before the agreements (P < 0.05). These newer supplying properties also had significantly lower deforestation rates after the agreement (P < 0.05).

# Discussion

Our results demonstrate that the supply chain agreements incentivized rapid change in meatpacker and rancher behavior related to deforestation and property registration in the state of Pará. The JBS slaughterhouses we analyzed actively excluded ranches with deforestation from their supply chain, signaling to ranchers that deforestation means reduced market access. They also motivated their suppliers to rapidly register their properties in the CAR system by restricting market access for

<sup>\*</sup>*P* < 0.05.

<sup>\*\*</sup>P < 0.01.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P < 0.001.



#### Regulated by current agreements

Figure 4 Large portions of the beef supply chain are not yet monitored under the zero-deforestation agreements. In practice, the agreements regulate only direct purchases from supplying farms, thus ignoring calving ranches and other indirect parts of the supply chain. Cattle fattened on noncompliant properties with deforestation can leak to slaughterhouses that lack full monitoring systems; these cattle can also be laundered by moving them to a compliant ranch for direct sale to a slaughterhouse.

unregistered properties, thereby moving ahead previously stalled state government mandates. Nearby non-supplying properties tended to wait at least two additional years to register in response to more localized government support and pressure. Compared with preagreement suppliers that did not sell to JBS following the agreements, the rates of deforestation in 2010-2012 were 50% lower on post-agreement supplying properties, and 75% lower on stable properties that sold in both 2009 and 2013 (Table 2). The differences in deforestation trends, combined with the strong rancher response in property registration, indicate that ranchers may have responded to the agreement by reducing deforestation on supplying properties. However, additional work is needed to quantify the degree to which the agreements are responsible for these reductions, and to assess the slaughterhouse and rancher response in other states that may have less pressure to comply with the agreements.

Despite these achievements, the outcomes for forest conservation are limited by the narrow application of the agreements, which opens the door to laundering and leakage (Figure 4). For example, large segments of the cattle supply chain are not monitored or tracked under the current implementation (Walker *et al.* 2013). Cattle often spend time on multiple properties prior to

slaughter, and ranchers can raise and fatten cattle on noncompliant ranches without a CAR or with recent deforestation, and then move the animals to a compliant property before sale to the slaughterhouses ("laundering"). Cattle laundering may also happen through "middlemen" who buy cattle from many producers, including those with noncompliant properties, and then sell to slaughterhouses through their own compliant property. During field surveys, ranchers reported that such laundering is a common and accepted practice, and pointed to the fact that it is not prohibited by the agreements. "The cows are not embargoed, only the land" was a common sentiment. Cattle produced on ranches with recent deforestation could also be sold to nearby slaughterhouses that do not have monitoring systems, allowing the deforestation to "leak" into these unregulated supply chains (Figure 4; Figure S2).

Ultimately, tracking individual animals with ear tags or other devices may be necessary to guarantee full supply chain traceability and deforestation-free beef, but this is likely years away from implementation. In the near term, the following refinements of the zero-deforestation agreements could improve forest conservation outcomes: (1) create a universal monitoring system available to and implemented by all meatpacking companies, regardless

H. K. Gibbs et al.

of size, which could also be accessed by the retailers who purchase from them; (2) broaden the implementation to encompass the full supply chain, including calving ranches and other indirect supplying properties; (3) provide data to track the full supply chain by publicly releasing the Guide to Animal Transport data (GTA), which tracks movement of cattle between farms for animal health purposes; (4) accelerate CAR registration for all properties, providing additional support for smallholders (Lee *et al.* 2012); and (5) mandate comprehensive, spatially-explicit and independent audits of slaughterhouse compliance (SOM 2).

Notwithstanding the remaining challenges, the experience in Pará demonstrates that simultaneous pressure from NGOs and government bodies can be a potent way to change rancher and slaughterhouse behavior, and reduce the amount of deforestation entering the beef supply chain from direct supplying properties. Slaughterhouses are a key leverage point in the supply chain due to their physical location in the agricultural-forest frontier, daily interactions with ranchers, and ability to restrict market access immediately. Committed corporations could improve the environmental performance of the agribusiness supply chains in areas where remoteness makes direct law enforcement difficult or less cost effective. These targeted supply chain interventions can produce results in a period of months rather than years, which has been typical of multinational agreements such as REDD+ and national policies such as the Forest Code (Gibbs et al. 2015). However, achieving large-scale reductions in deforestation will depend on scaling these agreements to include the majority of slaughterhouses and the entire supply chain, including indirect suppliers. Expanding these interventions beyond Brazil would require investments in supply chain traceability and transparency, but the monitoring technology is within reach.

## Acknowledgments

We thank B. Orcutt, G. Broman, A. Broman, L. Rausch, L. Fleck, J. Alix-Garcia, F. Moffette, K. Carlson, R. Sarsfield, G. Allez, E. Lambin, S. Baima, A. Hutson, B. Caires, L. Micol, A. Carrara, E. Moran, and D. Zarin for comments and expertise that were invaluable to this article. This article was significantly improved by comments from two anonymous reviewers. M. Omri created the maps and graphics, and D. Murray helped collect field data in 2014. Funding provided by the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation and Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation's Department for Civil Society under the Norwegian Forest and Climate Initiative.

# **Supporting Information**

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article at the publisher's web site:

**Table S1.** Dates of PRODES deforestation years defined as recent deforestation in panel analysis on the effect of supplying property deforestation on JBS slaughterhouse purchase probability.

**Table S2.** Results of t-tests and Wilcoxon ranksum comparing CAR registration dates between postagreement supplying properties and both surrounding non-supplying properties and those that supplied only before the agreements.

**Table S3** Results of linear probability models with property-and time-level fixed effects assessing the impact of recent deforestation on slaughterhouse purchase probability.

**Figure S1.** Cattle production and deforestation trends in the Brazilian Amazon biome, 1990-2014 (PRODES 2014, IBGE 2014).

**Figure S2.** Location of study region in southeastern Pará state. Only federally inspected slaughterhouses (SIFs) are depicted. Smaller slaughterhouses are excluded.

**Figure S3.** Example of property boundaries from the CAR database for supplying ranches and surround non-supplying properties.

**Figure S4.** The effect of recent deforestation on slaughterhouse purchase probability. Panel analysis results demonstrate that the JBS slaughterhouses were significantly less likely to purchase from properties with recent deforestation by 2012 (p < 0.001). Prior to the agreements, deforestation had no statistically significant impact on their purchasing selection. At least some of the deforestation assessed by our models for 2010 and 2011 occurred prior to the agreements; 2012 is the first year we would expect a full response. Graphic based on Model 4 sample and provides another way to visualize results in Figure 3 (Table 1; Table S3)

#### References

- Achard, F., Eva, H.D., Stibig, H.-J., *et al.* (2002).
  Determination of deforestation rates of the world's humid tropical forests. *Science*, **297**, 999-1002.
- Arima, E.Y., Barreto, P., Araújo, E., & Soares-Filho, B. (2014).
  Public policies can reduce tropical deforestation: Lessons and challenges from Brazil. *Land Use Policy*, **41**, 465-473.
- Azevedo, A., Rajão, R., Costa, M., Stabile, M., Alencar, A., & Moutinho, P. (2014). Amazônia em Pauta 3: Cadastro ambiental rural e sua influência na dinâmica do desmatamento na Amazônia Legal. IPAM, Brasília.

Barreto, P. & Silva, D. (2010). Will cattle ranching continue to drive deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon? Presented at the Environment and Natural Resources Management in Developing and Transition Economies.

Brannstrom, C., Rausch, L., Brown, J.C., deAndrade, R.M.T., & Miccolis, A. (2012). Compliance and market exclusion in Brazilian agriculture: Analysis and implications for "soft" governance. *Land Use Policy*, **29**, 357-366.

Butler, R.A. & Laurance, W.F. (2008). New strategies for conserving tropical forests. *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 23, 469-472.

Dauvergne, P. & Lister, J. (2012). Big brand sustainability: Governance prospects and environmental limits. *Global Environ. Change*, **22**, 36-45.

DeFries, R.S., Rudel, T., Uriarte, M., & Hansen, M. (2010). Deforestation driven by urban population growth and agricultural trade in the twenty-first century. *Nat. Geosci.*, **3**, 178-181.

Gibbs, H.K., Ruesch, A.S., Achard, F., *et al.* (2010). Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **107**, 16732-16737.

Gibbs, H.K., Rausch, L., Munger, J., et al. (2015) Brazil's Soy Moratorium. Science 23 347(6220), 377-378.

Greenpeace International. (2006). Eating up the Amazon [WWW Document]. *Greenpeace*. URL http://www.greenpeace.org/usa/en/media-center/reports/ eating-up-the-amazon/

Greenpeace International. (2009a). Slaughtering the Amazon [WWW Document]. *Greenpeace*. URL http://www.greenpeace.org/international/en/publications/ reports/slaughtering-the-amazon/

Greenpeace International. (2009b). Minimum criteria for industrial scale cattle operations in the Brazilian Amazon Biome [WWW Document]. *Greenpeace*. URL http://www.greenpeace.org/usa/en/media-center/reports/ minimum-criteria-for-i/

Greenpeace International. (2010). Caught red-handed: How Nestlé's use of palm oil is having a devastating impact on rainforest, the climate and orangutans [WWW Document]. *Greenpeace*. URL

http://www.greenpeace.org/international/en/publications/ reports/caught-red-handed-how-nestle/

Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., *et al.* (2013).High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science*, 342, 850-853.

IBGE (Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics). (2014). Pesquisa Pecuária Municipal [WWW Document]. URL http://www.sidra.ibge.gov.br/

INPE/EMBRAPA. (2012). Terraclass 2012: Amazon land use and land cover information Project (Projeto TerraClass)
[WWW Document]. CRA - Centro de Regional da Amazônia. URL http://www.inpe.br/cra/projetos<sup>-</sup>pesquisas/ terraclass2012.php

Instituto Nacional de Colonização e Reforma Agrária (INCRA). (2014). Mapa [WWW Document]. *INCRA - Acervo Fundiário*. URL http://acervofundiario.incra.gov.br Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais (INPE). (2014). Projeto PRODES – monitoriamento da foresta amazônica brasileira por satélite [WWW Document]. *Projeto - PRODES*. URL http://www.obt.inpe.br/prodes/index.php

JBS. (2013). Rastreabilitdade [WWW Document]. Grupo JBS-Friboi. URL

http://www2.jbs.com.br/Rastreabilidade.aspx

Lee, J., Gereffi, G., & Beauvais, J. (2012). Global value chains and agrifood standards: Challenges and possibilities for smallholders in developing countries. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **109**, 12326-12331.

MAPA (Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Supply). (2013). Sistema de Informações Gerenciais dos Sistemas de Inpecao Federal. Available at http://sigsif.agricultura.gov.br/sigsif<sup>-</sup>cons/!ap\_estabelec\_nacional\_rep.

Ministério do Meio Ambiente (MMA). (2014). Download de dados geográficos [WWW Document]. URL http://mapas.mma.gov.br/i3geo/datadownload.htm

Ministério Público Federal (MPF). (2009). Para Divulgar Termo de Ajustamento de Conduta Bertin assinado (TAC).

Ministério Público Federal (MPF). (2013a). TAC frigoríficos na Amazônia [WWW Document]. URL http://www.prmt.mpf.mp.br/noticias/arquivos/tav-frigorificos-na amazonia#.U3ukVdyVifQ

Ministério Público Federal (MPF). (2013b). Termo de Ajustamento de Conduta. Pecuaria Sustentavel.

Nepstad, D.C., Stickler, C.M., & Almeida, O.T. (2006). Globalization of the Amazon soy and beef industries: Opportunities for conservation. *Conserv. Biol.*, **20**(6), 1595-1603.

Nepstad, D., McGrath, D., Stickler, C., *et al.* (2014). Slowing Amazon deforestation through public policy and interventions in beef and soy supply chains. *Science*, **344**, 1118-1123.

Newton, P., Agrawal, A., & Wollenberg, L. (2013). Enhancing the sustainability of commodity supply chains in tropical forest and agricultural landscapes. *Global Environ. Change*, 23, 1761-1772.

Rudel, T.K., Defries, R., Asner, G.P., & Laurance, W.F. (2009). Changing drivers of deforestation and new opportunities for conservation. *Conserv. Biol.*, **23**, 1396-1405.

Rudorff, B.F.T., Adami, M., Aguiar, D.A., *et al.* (2011). The soy moratorium in the Amazon Biome monitored by remote sensing images. *Remote Sens.*, **3**, 185-202.

Secretaria do Comércio Exterior (Secex) & Ministério do Desenvolvimento Indústria e Comércio Exterior (MDIC). (2014). Sistema de análise das informações de comércio exterior via Internet (ALICEweb) [WWW Document]. URL http://aliceweb.desenvolvimento.gov.br/

SIMLAM. (2013). Sistema Integrado de Monitoramento e Licenciamento Ambiental [WWW Document]. SEMAS -Simlam Público PA. Last accessed: November 2013; URL http://monitoramento.sema.pa.gov.br/simlam/

- Sist, P., Mazzei, L., & Sablayrolles, P. (2013). Supporting farm forestry. *Perspective*, **22**.
- Smith, B.G. (2008). Developing sustainable food supply chains. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.*, 363, 849-861.UN. (2014). *New York Declaration on Forests.*
- Walker, N., Patel, S., Davis, F., Milledge, S., & Hulse, J. (2013). Demand-side interventions to reduce deforestation and forest degradation. International Institute for Environment and Development. 80–86 Gray's Inn Road, London WC1X 8NH, UK.